
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 9 July 2019

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 17 JULY 2019 AT 6.00 PM

FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, BENSON LANE, 
WALLINGFORD, OX10 8BA

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Kate Gregory

Lorraine Hillier
Alexandrine Kantor
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Victoria Haval

Kellie Hinton
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy

Caroline Newton
Anne-Marie Simpson
Alan Thompson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic

 

Public Document Pack



2

1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page



3

7 Amberley, 26 
Lambridge 
Wood Road, 
Henley-On-
Thames, RG9 
3BS  

Demolition of existing dwelling. 
Erection of 2 new dwellings.(revised 
plans received 9th April 2019, setting 
back new access point and 
boundary treatment. Further revision 
to position of dwelling in plot 1 and 
front facing dormer windows now 
omitted).

P19/S0288/FUL 5 - 20

8 Unit 4, The 
Arcade, High 
Street, Goring, 
RG8 9AY  

Change of use of Unit 4 to 
Pilates/Yoga Studio (Class D2).

P19/S1246/FUL 21 - 28

9 7 Hillary Way, 
Wheatley, 
OX33 1UY  

Subdivision of existing garden to 
provide plot. Demolition of existing 
garage structure and erection of new 
detached 2 Bed single storey 
bungalow dwelling. Retention of two 
off street parking spaces utilising 
existing highway access to Roman 
Road, secure cycle storage and bin 
enclosures.

P19/S1009/FUL 29 - 40

10 1 Mays 
Cottages, 
between 
Nuffield and 
Ewelme, OX10 
6QF  

Erection of 2 bed affordable cottage. P19/S0648/FUL 41 - 56

11 8 Park Corner, 
Nettlebed, 
Henley-on-
Thames, RG9 
6DT  

Loft conversion with dormer windows 
to the east and west elevation 
(amended plans received 2 July 
showing dormer to east elevation 
removed and replaced with roof 
light).

P19/S1140/HH 57 - 76



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 17 July 2019

1

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0288/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 31.1.2019
PARISH HENLEY-ON-THAMES
WARD MEMBERS Ken Arlett

Kellie Hinton
Stefan Gawrysiak

APPLICANT Mr  Liddel
SITE Amberley 26 Lambridge Wood Road Henley-On-

Thames, RG9 3BS
PROPOSAL Demolition of existing dwelling. Erection of 2 new 

dwellings.(revised plans received 9th April 2019, 
setting back new access point and boundary 
treatment. Further revision to position of dwelling in 
plot 1 and front facing dormer windows now 
omitted).

OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Committee as the officer’s recommendation of approval 

conflicts with the objections from Henley Town Council. The application was deferred 
at the 12th June committee meeting in order to allow members to visit the application 
site.

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is 
comprised of an existing detached property located within a late 1950s
area of housing towards the north west of Henley. The dwelling is set within a plot
approximately 0.19ha in area and is accessed via a private driveway which also
serves a number of other properties to the north of the site. Many of the dwellings
within the locality are of bespoke appearance and have been extended well beyond
their original form.

1.3 In 2015, planning permission for the demolition of the existing dwelling and its 
replacement with two properties was refused by the District Council and dismissed at 
appeal. The Inspector did not agree that the site falls ‘within Henley’ and opined that 
Lambridge Wood Road is ‘clearly divorced’ from the edge of the built-up limits of the 
town. It was concluded that additional housing in this location is therefore not 
acceptable in principle. It was further concluded that the scheme would fail to respond 
positively to or respect the character of the site and its surroundings. Copies of the 
refused plans are attached at Appendix B 

1.4 In 2017, planning permission was granted by the Planning Committee for the erection 
of a single detached dwelling within part of the gardens of Waterton, 33 Lambridge 
Wood Road. A copy of the approved plan for that application is attached as Appendix 
C.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, consent is again sought for the demolition of 

the existing dwelling and its replacement with two detached properties. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0288/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 17 July 2019

2

2.2 A copy of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix D.  Other 
documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.  

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Henley-on-Thames Town Council – Objection

 The Committee unanimously recommended refusal due to overdevelopment of 
the plot and the effect of the proposals on the character of the area.

Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No strong views
 No objections subject to tree protection and hedge protection conditions to 

ensure the satisfactory protection of trees and hedges and to secure details of 
additional planting
 

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No strong views
 Following the previous Highway Authority comments a revised plan has been 

supplied which addresses the issues raised. The proposal is unlikely to have a 
significant adverse impact on the highway network.

Countryside Officer (South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse) - No strong views

Neighbour Objections (11) – Key issues raised:
 There have not been any material change in circumstances since the previous 

2015 appeal dismissal
 It does not represent a sustainable development as residents of the two new 

houses would be forced to rely on private transport as there is no public 
transport available within at least one mile. Residents would be highly unlikely to 
cycle, walk over 1 mile or use public transport. 

 Civil/ covenant issues would prevent implementation of the scheme
 The siting, scale, bulk and massing are near identical to the previous 

application, representing a fundamental overdevelopment of the site. It would be 
wholly out-of-keeping with the surrounding grain of development 

 Comments made over the council’s procedures, the unacceptability of the 
informal pre-application advice process and assignment of case officer.

 The dwellings would not benefit from adequate private amenity areas for the 
new occupiers. 345-380 sq.m is not sufficient and this would be exacerbated by 
the land gradient. 

 There would be losses of privacy with respect to the neighbouring living 
accommodation

 There would be highway safety issues arising from the poor visibility standards 
and the deficit in the level of parking. Each dwelling should have a minimum of 5 
spaces. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S2643/PEM – Pre-application response (17/09/2018)

Demolition of existing dwelling to allow replacement with 2 new dwellings.

P15/S3754/HH - Approved (19/01/2016)
Erection of two storey rear extension, new front porch, internal and external alterations

P14/S2743/FUL - Refused (10/12/2014) - Appeal dismissed (20/07/2015)
Demolition of one house and erection of two detached houses with new vehicular and 
pedestrian access.(as amplified by tree constraints plan accompanying agent's email 
dated 15th September 2014 and as amended by plans accompanying agent's email 

Page 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2643/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3754/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S2743/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 17 July 2019

3

dated 30th October 2014, reducing extension footprint and ridge height; and as 
amplified by landscaping plan received 7th November 2014)

P64/H0198 - Approved (26/03/1964)
4 bedroomed house
P58/H0513 - Approved (04/09/1961)
Site for and layout of 10 houses with new access road.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 The Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan (JHHNP) policies;

Housing Strategy
Primary Housing Objectives H04
Policy H4 -  Infill and self-build dwellings
Policy DSQ1 – Local Character
Policy T1 – Impact of development upon the transport network

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSQ3  -  Design
CSHEN1  -  Strategy for Henley

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Vehicle and bicycle parking
D3 - Plot coverage and parking areas
D4  -  Privacy
D10 - Waste management
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are: 

1. The principle of the development
2. The impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area
3. The impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers
4. Highway considerations
5. Other issues

Page 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P64/H0198
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P58/H0513


South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 17 July 2019

4

Principle of development

6.2 SOCS policy CSHEN1 and the housing objectives of the JHHNP set out the specific 
strategy for Henley, allowing housing on suitable infill and redevelopment sites. If the 
principle of housing is acceptable in this location, then the detailed criteria set out under 
SOLP Policy H4 would apply.

6.3 It is accepted that additional housing within Lambridge Wood Road has historically 
been resisted by the council and this position has been reinforced by a number of 
appeal decisions by the Planning Inspectorate, including the previous scheme at the 
application site (P14/S2743/FUL; APP/Q3115/W/15/3002918). The Planning Inspector 
did not agree that the site falls ‘within Henley’ and opined that Lambridge Wood Road is 
‘clearly divorced’ from the edge of the built-up limits of the town. It was concluded that 
additional housing in this location is therefore not acceptable in principle.  

6.4 Whilst officers acknowledge the significance of this judgement, there have been more 
recent changes to the Local Development Plan, which resulted in the Planning 
Committee supporting the proposal for the erection of an infill dwelling within garden 
land associated with no. 33 Lambridge Wood Road (P17/S2700/FUL). Under that 
application, Members had regard to the fact that the Neighbourhood Plan has now 
been adopted as part of the Local Development Plan and it allocates a substantial area 
of land off Fairmile for residential development (attached, Appendix E). The stated 
intention for this to ‘enable development to be distributed across the Plan area more 
evenly’ (JHHNP 5.6). Over the course of the application, neither the District Council nor 
Henley Town Council considered that the provision of housing in this location would 
conflict with the up-to-date spatial strategy of the JHHNP. 

6.5 As a number of respondents to the consultation continue to argue that any additional 
residential development within Lambridge wood Road is inherently unacceptable in 
principle, officers would take the opportunity to reiterate that the JHHNP allocation 
approves the removal of a substantial green buffer which currently exists between the 
more uniform housing developments towards Luker Avenue/ Crisp Road and the more 
spacious, piecemeal development towards Barn Lane and Lambridge Wood Road. This 
will create a largely continuous area of housing at the northern end of Henley, where 
permission also continues to be granted for housing development at a number of sites 
within Fairmile (Morriston P16/S1117/FUL; 24 Fairmile, P15/S1822/FUL). It is also 
worthy of note that the current objection from Henley Town Council, which has triggered 
the referral to Committee, is confined to the perceived overdevelopment of the site, 
rather than the principle of additional housing in this location. 

6.6 The material planning considerations leading to the District Council’s continued view 
that Lambridge Wood Road falls within the limits of Henley remain equally applicable 
today. The principle accords with SOCS Policy CSHEN1 and JHHNP Policy. In 
response to the comments raised over the level of sustainability of the location, 
Lambridge Wood Road has a similar level of proximity to the Town centre as many 
other parts of Henley where infill and redevelopment is also acceptable in principle.

Scale and Design

6.7 It is noted that the level of plot coverage is below the recommended 40% and the 
proposal would provide private amenity space well in excess of the minimum 
recommended standards set out under Section 7 of the SODG. For the avoidance of 
doubt, dwellings with 3+ bedrooms should have a minimum of 100 sq.m, whereas the 
application submission proposes more than 340 sq.m of garden area for each property.  

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 17 July 2019

5

The level of off-street parking provision would far exceed the maximum standards 
adopted under appendix 5 to the SOLP.

6.8 Whilst officers do not deny that the plot sizes would be smaller than most within the 
street, a criticism also levelled against the recently approved application for a dwelling 
at no. 33, there are already a wide range of garden sizes within the locality and 
significant differences in the depth and width of the gardens to both the front and rear of 
neighbouring properties. Furthermore, the width of the frontages, the spacing between 
the dwellings and the distance from the highway boundary to the principle elevations 
would not be at variance with many of the properties to both the north and south sides 
of this stretch of Lambridge Wood Road. Officers maintain that there would not be a 
dramatic departure from the established housing grain within this part of the settlement 
and no overriding conflict with SOLP Policy D3.

6.9 It is acknowledged that the application site occupies a fairly conspicuous corner plot 
and consent was previously refused partly on the basis of that proposal’s failure to 
respond appropriately to the intrinsic physical qualities and spacious characteristics of 
the area. However, officers do not agree with the views expressed by some of the 
respondents to this consultation; that the current scheme is near identical in terms of 
the scale, bulk and its level of intrusion into the street scene. Relative to the refused 
scheme, the cumulative footprint of the dwellings would be reduced by around 100 
sq.m and the cumulative width reduced by around 10m. There would be a markedly 
greater visual separation between the two proposed buildings within the site, both in 
terms of the modest increase in the intervening distance and the greater architectural 
variety between the two forms. Furthermore, the proposed dwellings would have a 
lower overall height than the refused scheme, less complicated designs and less visual 
clutter in their detailing. Officers contend that the current proposal would have 
materially less bulk and massing at first floor level and this is illustrated within the 
supporting street elevation on the proposed composite plan. 

6.10 It is also the intention to provide new soft planting to supplement the loss of part of the 
current hedging at the site perimeter, with details to be secured by condition. It is 
worthy of note and evident on the site visit that there are dwellings within close 
proximity to the site which have a significant level of visibility within public views and 
hard boundary treatments which introduce more of a suburban character to the 
surrounding built form.  

6.11 Whilst the proposed properties would still undeniably have a greater presence within 
the plot than the existing dwelling and garaging, which itself spans a fair proportion of 
the width of the site, this is not an area designated on the basis of its outstanding 
landscape character or exceptional architectural and historic interest. Without 
undermining the attractive character of the street, officers consider that the proposal in 
its current form would take sufficient cues from the form and detailing of the 
surrounding properties and retain enough of the spacious character of the plot to justify 
its subdivision in this manner. Officers contend that the scheme would add visual 
interest within the street scene rather than resulting in an overly intrusive form of 
development causing a material erosion of the defining character of the area. The 
proposal broadly complies with SOCS Policy CSQ3, SOLP Policy D1 and JHHNP 
Policy DSQ1.

Page 9



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 17 July 2019

6

Neighbouring amenity

6.12 None of the refusal reasons attached to the previous decision related to neighbouring 
amenity and at the appeal, the Inspector agreed that there was no convincing evidence 
that there would be harm to the living conditions of nearby residents by reason of 
unacceptable loss of privacy or outlook. 

6.13 Officers note that there would continue to be a substantial separating distance from the 
dwellings opposite the site, more than double the 10m recommended within Section 7 
of the SODG. Furthermore, due to the levels of the site and its orientation relative to the 
dwelling to the north-west, there is unlikely to be a significant impact in terms of loss of 
daylight or sunlight to the neighbour’s gardens and living accommodation. 

Highway safety

6.14 The proposal would comfortably exceed the recommended level of parking provision 
specified within Appendix 5 to the SOLP. The Local Highways Authority consider the 
visibility splays to be adequate having regard to the prevailing conditions of the road 
and raise no objection to the scheme in terms of its impact upon pedestrian and 
highway safety. Officers do not seek to challenge the expert advice provided in this 
regard.  

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

6.15 The council’s CIL charging schedule was adopted on 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning 
charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support 
the development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint 
created as a result of the development. In this case CIL is liable for the development 
because the proposal involves the creation of new dwellings. The CIL charge applied to 
new residential development in this case is £150 per square metre of additional 
floorspace.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal is in accordance with the relevant development plan policies and national 

planning policy.  The proposal would not cause material harm to the overall character 
and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal is also considered acceptable in 
terms of the impact upon the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and it would not be 
prejudicial to highway safety.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 

1:    Commencement within three years - Full Planning Permission
2:    Development to be in accordance with the approved plans 
3:    A schedule of Materials to be agreed in writing prior to the commencement 
        of the development 
4:    All hard and soft landscaping details, together with the type and height of all 
        boundary treatments shall be submitted and approved in writing prior to the 

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council - Planning Committee - 17 July 2019

7

        commencement of the development 
5:    Tree Protection details to be agreed prior to the commencement of 
        development
6:     Protection of hedges to be secured during development operations in 
        accordance with details to be agreed prior to the commencement of    
       development
7:     New vehicular access to be provided to the satisfaction of the Local 
        Highways Authority
8:     Parking & Manoeuvring Areas to be provided and retained free from 
        obstruction prior to occupation
9:     Vision splays to be provided as on plan and unobstructed above 0.9m 
10:   Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class A and B) - no 
        extensions or roof extensions to be erected without planning permission
11:   Existing and proposed levels to be submitted and agreed. 

Author: Simon Kitson
Email:   Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel No: 01235 422600

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix AP
age 13

A
genda Item

 7
P

19/S
0288/FU

L



Appendix B

P
age 14



Appendix CP
age 15



Appendix D

P
age 16



P
age 17



P
age 18

SAV_SIMKIT
Distance Measurement
Distance:
5.72 m

SAV_SIMKIT_1
Distance Measurement
Distance:
9.02 m



Appendix EP
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S1246/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 15.4.2019
PARISH GORING
WARD MEMBER(S) Maggie Filipova-Rivers
APPLICANT Adam Estates Ltd
SITE Unit 4 The Arcade High Street Goring, RG8 9AY
PROPOSAL Change of use  of Unit 4 to Pilates/Yoga Studio ( 

Class D2)
OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application has been referred to Planning Committee as the views of Goring 

Parish Council differ from the officer’s recommendation.

1.2 The site lies within Goring village centre in the Goring conservation area and the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).

1.3 The Arcade is a 1960s development comprising some 9 units. The current uses of the 
units include a café, restaurant, card/gift shop, a financial advisor and a care hub. Unit 
4 is located towards the southern end of the arcade. The unit is currently vacant and 
was last used as a dining area in association with the adjacent Chinese restaurant at 
number 3 The Arcade.
 

1.4 A site location plan is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission to change the use of the premises from 

A3 (restaurant use) to D2 (community and leisure use) a yoga /Pilates studio. The 
applicants own the arcade.

2.2 No external alterations to the building are proposed.

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the applications are attached as Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1 Goring Parish Council – Object
Loss of another retail unit in the Arcade. Could be in conflict with the proposed strategic 
project in the emerging Neighbourhood Plan.

County Archaeological Services - No objection 

Conservation Officer - No objection 
The proposed change of use would not harm the historic significance of the designated 
conservation area.

Economic Development – Approve

Page 21

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1246/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S4285/FUL - Approved (12/03/2019)

Replace 5 number existing bollards at the front of the property with similar bollards.

P99/W0217 - Approved (24/06/1999)
Change of use from retail to use as dining area in conjunction with existing 
restaurant/takeaway business in adjoining unit. (A1-A3). (As amplified by letter from 
applicant dated 24.5.99 and accompanying plans and the agent's letter dated 26.5.99).

P98/W0533/A - Approved (07/10/1998)
One projecting sign, three fascia signs and one pole mounted sign.(As amended by 
letters from applicant dated 11 August 1998 and 24 August 1998 and accompanying 
drawings).

P98/W0532 - Approved (07/10/1998)
Erection of post and wall lighting. Creation of hole in wall. Paving and re-paving.  (As 
amended by letters from applicant dated 11 August 1998, 13 August 1998 and 24 
August 1998 and accompanying drawings and amplified by letters from applicant dated 
9 and 10 September 1998).

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEM4  -  Supporting economic development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

CF1  -  Protection of recreational or essential community facilities
CF2  -  Provision of additional community facilities
CF3  -  Retention of shops
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
EP2  -  Adverse effect by noise or vibration
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan: Plan made on 4 July 2019

 Policy 17 - Historic Environment

In addition, the plan includes Action 10 which relates to the rejuvenation of Goring 
village centre. This states that “following the making of this plan, the Parish Council 
should establish a strategic project to take professional advice, and explore potential 
mechanisms, to secure the comprehensive redevelopment of this important site in the 
heart of the village for the future. “

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Page 22

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4285/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P99/W0217
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P98/W0533/A
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P98/W0532


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The key considerations in determining this application are:

 Impact on the character and appearance of the Goring conservation area
 Impact on the special character of the AONB
 Impact on neighbours
 Impact on parking
 Loss of a retail unit
 CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy)
 Other issues

6.2 Impact on the character of the Goring conservation area. 
The conservation area is a designated heritage asset. Section 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special attention be paid 
to the desirability of preserving and enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2018) reflects this requirement, stating 
that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.

6.3 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF (2018) requires that planning permission should be refused 
if there is substantial harm or the total loss of a designated heritage asset. Paragraph 
196 of the NPPF establishes that where the harm is less than substantial that any harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

6.4 CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that conservation areas will be conserved and 
enhanced and that proposals that affect non-designated historic assets will be 
considered taking account of the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset.

6.5 CON7 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development in a conservation area does not 
harm the character and appearance of the area; that design and scale of the new work 
is in sympathy with the established character of the area and that traditional materials 
are used whenever appropriate.

6.6 In this case, no external alterations to the unit are proposed. As such the proposed 
change of use would not have any material impact on the character or appearance of 
the Goring conservation area. By making use of an empty unit, the proposed change of 
use would bring vitality to the arcade and avoid the unit remaining vacant.

6.7 Impact on the special character of the AONB.
The site lies within the AONB. The NPPF advises that great weight should be given to 
conserving these areas. Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS seeks to enhance AONBs and to 
protect them from inappropriate development.

The proposed development does not involve any extension or external alteration to the 
unit. As such, it would not have any material impact on the special character of the 
AONB.

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

6.8 Impact on neighbours.
Policy EP2 of the SOLP seeks to resist proposals which would by reason of noise or 
vibrations have an adverse effect on neighbours. In this case, there are no residential 
properties within The Arcade and the use of the premises as a yoga or Pilates studio 
would not result in unacceptable noise or disturbance to dwellings in the vicinity of the 
site. The proposed use would fall within class D2 of the Use Classes Order. Other uses 
within this class include cinemas, music and concert halls, bingo and dance halls. Your 
officers have considered whether a condition restricting the site to yoga and Pilates only 
is appropriate. Given the modest size of the premises, it is considered very unlikely that 
it would be used for any of these other uses which may have a greater impact on 
neighbours from noise etc. and therefore no such condition has been recommended. 

6.9 Impact on parking.
Policy T2 of the SOLP requires all developments to provide adequate parking provision. 
The site occupies a village centre location close to existing public car parking. The use 
of the modest premises as a yoga/ pilates studio is unlikely to result in an increase in 
vehicular movements compared to the use of the premises as a restaurant or retail 
shop. The County Highway Authority have raised no objection to this proposal 
confirming that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the 
highway network. In addition, the surrounding area has controls in the form of waiting 
restrictions and pay and display parking spaces which can be enforced so as to prevent 
indiscriminate/obstructive parking occurring within the vicinity.

6.10 Loss of retail unit.
This application is before planning committee because the Parish Council have 
objected to the proposal on the grounds that the development will result in the loss of a 
retail unit within The Arcade. For clarification, the last use of the unit was A3 in 
association with the adjacent Chinese restaurant.

6.11 Within the Goring Neighbourhood Plan, it is stated that the Parish Council wish to 
secure the comprehensive redevelopment of part of the village including this arcade. 
This aim by the village to redevelop the arcade is not included as a policy within the NP. 
It is included as Action 10 within the plan. Whilst your officers respect the aim to do this 
work, this current planning application must be assessed within the context of the 
existing Development Plan policies and Government advice. The refusal of planning 
permission on the grounds that the area may be redeveloped in the future is not 
reasonable in your officers’ opinion and is contrary to advice within the NPPF which 
advises that the refusal of planning permission on the grounds of prematurity will 
seldom be justified. 

In addition, the applicants own the arcade and so would be involved in any 
redevelopment/development of this area. 

6.12 Policy CF2 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that proposals that will result in the provision 
of additional community facilities or services within settlements will be permitted 
provided that there is no overriding amenity, environmental or traffic objections and that 
there is no conflict with other policies in the plan. 

6.13 This application would provide an additional community facility by way of a yoga/Pilates 
studio which would be used predominantly by local people. As discussed above, the 
proposal would not result in amenity, environmental or traffic issues.

6.14 Policy CF3 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that within the neighbourhood centres in the 
larger villages, changes of use of shops to non-retail uses will only be permitted where 
this would not detract from the overall role and attractiveness of the shopping area. 

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

Within the arcade there are existing non-shopping uses such as a financial adviser, 
care hub, restaurant and café. The unit which is the subject of this application is 
currently vacant and therefore does not contribute to the role or attractiveness of the 
area. By changing its use, the unit would be brought back into use and would not 
appear out of keeping with the various other existing uses within the arcade. Also, the 
last use of the unit was a non-retail use so there is no loss of a retail unit.

6.15 In order to make the change of use of premises more flexible and to boost the 
economy, the Government has included a number of classes within the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 which do not 
require planning permission. Class J allows the change of use from a use within Class 
A1(shops) to a use falling within Class D2 (assembly and leisure) without requiring 
planning permission subject to a number of conditions. One of these conditions is that 
the site does not lie within a conservation area or AONB. As such, in this instance, as 
the site lies within the Goring conservation area and the AONB, the change of use 
would require planning permission. This does illustrate however, that in many 
circumstances, the change of use from retail to assembly and leisure would not actually 
require planning permission. 

6.16 It is worth noting that a report entitled “Changing Face of the High Street” by 
consultants DTZ, highlights the importance of leisure facilities in town centres, as 
follows; “leisure uses are more important than ever to retail, particularly given their 
ability to increase dwell time”. In my view, the proposed development would support the 
viability and vitality of the town centre by providing a more mixed offering to local 
residents. 

6.17 Government advice within the NPPF (2018) advises Local Planning Authorities to 
approach decision making in a positive and creative way working with applicants to 
secure developments which will improve the economic social and environmental 
conditions of the area. It also encourages them to respond to changes in economic 
circumstances and to promote and support the development of under-utilised land and 
buildings. By enabling a vacant unit to be used for an alternative use this proposal 
would comply with the sentiments of the guidance within the NPPF

6.18 In addition, the South Oxfordshire District Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment 2016 
supports the diversification of town centres and confirms that “town centres with a 
strong broad retail and leisure mix can be expected to benefit directly from the upturn in 
the wider national economy as footfall and expenditure in town centres increase.” As 
such, the change of use of the premises to a leisure use is considered to be in line with 
Government advice within the NPPF and more other related reports exploring retail and 
leisure uses.

6.19 Community Infrastructure Levy.
This proposal is not CIL liable as it is not creating additional floor area and relates to a 
use which is excluded from CIL liability.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the unit is currently 

vacant and detracts from the character and vitality of the area. The proposed change of 
use would not appear out of keeping within the arcade given the variety of uses already 
there. The proposed change of use would not be harmful to the character of the 
conservation area or result in amenity or highway issues. The proposal accords with 
Development Plan policies and Government advice.

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions

1: Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2: Approved plans 

Author:        Kim Gould
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 26



Appendix 1

Page 27

Agenda Item 8P19/S1246/FUL



Colin Dawson Associates
Architectural Design and Building Surveying

Malvern House,
1 Malvern Way

Twyford Reading Berkshire RG10 9PY

01189343322
cdadesign@ntlworld.com

Drawing

As Existing  & Planning Proposals -- Floor Layout plan and Elevations
Date  April 2019                                               Scale  1:100 on A3 paper                                           Drawing No  D1306-02

Location

Unit 4 The Arcade High Street Goring Reading Berkshire.
Project

Proposed Change of use.

1:100 scale on A3 size paper    .    Print at 1:1 scale.

cycles and motor bikes.

10000 mm

NORTHEAST  ELEVATION

SOUTHWEST ELEVATION

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

Unit 4

Unit 5

Unit 3

Unit 6

Unit 7

Concourse
refuse and recycling
storage area

Appendix 2

P
age 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S1009/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 28.3.2019
PARISH WHEATLEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Alexandrine Kantor
APPLICANT Mr P O'Brien
SITE 7 Hillary Way Wheatley, OX33 1UY
PROPOSAL Subdivision of existing garden to provide plot. 

Demolition of existing garage structure and erection 
of new detached 2 Bed single storey bungalow 
dwelling. Retention of two off street parking spaces 
utilising existing highway access to Roman Road, 
secure cycle storage and bin enclosures.

OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Committee as the officer’s recommendation of approval 

conflicts with the objections from Wheatley Parish Council.

1.2 7 Hillary Way is a semi-detached, 3-bedroom property. It was originally a bungalow, 
but a large box dormer has been added to the rear roof slope. It is located within the 
built-up limits of Wheatley within an established residential area. Its rear garden backs 
onto Roman Way. 

1.3 The site lies outside any area of restraint and is identified on the Ordnance Survey 
extract attached as Appendix 1. It was previously the rear garden to 7 Hillary Way.

2:0 Background
2.1 In 2016, planning application P16/S4061/FUL was submitted for the subdivision of the 

existing garden at 7 Hillary way and the erection of a single storey dwelling with 2 off 
street parking spaces. This application was refused for the following reason:

“The principle of residential development is acceptable within Wheatley. 
However, the site is situated in a unique part of Roman Way which does not 
have any frontage development and comprises mature rear gardens to the 
properties facing onto Hillary Way. The development of this site would 
adversely affect the established character of this part of Roman Way and fail to 
reinforce local distinctiveness. As such it would be contrary to policy CSR1 of 
the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy and saved policies H4 and D1 of the south 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and to Government guidance within the NPPF as 
the harm resulting from this development would outweigh the benefits of 
providing a single unit of residential development in a sustainable location.”

The only reason for refusal, was on character grounds due to there being no vehicular 
accesses off Roman Road in this part of the village. 

2.2 This application was also dismissed on appeal. The Inspector agreed with your 
officers that the proposal would be harmful to the established and unique character of 
this part of Roman Road.

Page 29

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1009/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

2.3 In 2018, the applicant submitted a Lawful Development Certificate which sought to 
confirm whether a proposed development required planning permission or not. The 
proposal was the erection of a new garage with attached store with access to the rear 
of the property (ref P18/S0138/LDP).

2.4 In assessing whether the proposed development was lawful the outbuilding and new 
access were considered against the criteria within the relevant part of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 2015. Schedule 2, Part 1 
Class E or the Order relates to the erection of outbuildings. Schedule 2, Part 2, Class 
B relates to the creation of an access. In both cases, the proposal was found to be 
lawful within the meaning of Section 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and could be undertaken without requiring planning permission and outside the 
control of the Local Planning Authority.
 

2.5 The works associated with this Lawful Development Certificate have been completed 
and the mature hedge has been removed, a vehicular access created and a large 
garage building erected. As such, the character of this area, which was fundamental 
to the 2016 application being refused and dismissed on appeal, is now materially 
different.  

3.0 PROPOSAL
3.1 The proposal seeks full planning permission to subdivide the existing plot and erect a 

detached, single storey dwelling with associated car parking, cycle parking and bin 
storage.

3.2 The dwelling would have a mono pitch roof and would be finished using render and 
timber cladding.

3.3 Two off street parking spaces would be provided at the front of the property. The 
existing access off Roman Road would be utilised. 

3.4 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the applications are attached as Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

4.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
4.1 Wheatley Parish Council – Object

 This new application is duplication of P16/S4061/FUL which was refused and 
upheld at appeal.

 There is a clear misuse of planning laws and an attempt to make mockery of 
this planning process. The Certificate of lawful development has simply been 
used to create a highways access to the rear of the property which was strongly 
objected to by Wheatley Parish Council.

 Current “garage” is no such thing and is simply a poorly built structure made 
from cheap materials.

 The access is an incongruous gap to an otherwise fully enclosed part of Roman 
Road.

 The proposal would adversely affect the character and appearance of the area
 Residents along Hillary Way need to maintain their hedge boundary as part of 

their deeds.
 Access is directly onto a busy narrow road opposite the Leyshon Road junction 

which increases the road safety issues and concerns.
 A site visit by the officer is recommended.

Page 30

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

Neighbour Object (9)
 The garage should never have been given planning permission 
 The proposed dwelling is out of character.
 Removal of hedge is contrary to deeds.
 The new dwelling would need to have water and gas installed etc which could 

cause serious problems to current drainage system.
 If planning permission is granted, it will set a precedent for future similar 

proposals.
 Overdevelopment.
 Traffic hazard
 Incorrect plans – cars would not fit on the parking spaces.
 This is simply a devious ploy to circumvent normal planning rules and should be 

opposed.
 Garage on the site is only a shell – no floor and very flimsy.

OCC (highways) – No objection subject to conditions in relation to access and vision 
splay.

5.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
5.1 P18/S0138/LDP - Approved (08/03/2018)

Construction of new garage with attached store, with highway access to rear of 
property. (As amended by block plan and composite plan ref 16-008-P401A and 16-
008-P402A).

P16/S4061/FUL - Refused (01/02/2017) - Appeal dismissed (08/08/2017)
Subdivision of existing garden to provide plot. Erection of new detached 2 bed single 
storey dwelling. Provision of 2 no. off street parking spaces with new highway access to 
Roman Road. Secure cycle storage and bin enclosures.  As amended by plans 16-
008/P/102A (elevations) and 16-008/P/101A (site location and block plan)

P16/S2734/FUL – Withdrawn (04/11/2016)
Subdivision of existing garden to provide plot. Erection of new detached 4 Bed two 
storey dwelling. Provision of 2 off street parking spaces with new highway access to 
Roman Road. secure cycle storage and bin enclosures (as amended by revised block 
plan received 7 September 2016).

P04/W1122 - Approved (09/12/2004)
Erection of single storey front extension (as amended by drawing no.PS/04/02A rev A 
accompanying letter from Agent dated 29 November 2004).

6.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
6.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

6.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area

Page 31

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0138/LDP
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S4061/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2734/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P04/W1122


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

6.3 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Wheatley Parish Council is working on a neighbourhood plan. The plan is at the 
consultation stage.  The Plan has not yet reached a sufficiently advanced stage where 
it can be given significant weight. The relevant policies from the consultation NP are;

H1   Design and character principles
H4   Infill and self-build dwellings
P1   Parking provision 
VCE1 Wheatley village centre

6.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

6.5 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

6.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

6.7 National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
7.1 The key issues to be considered in the determination of this planning application are:

 The principle of residential development
 Policy H4 criteria
 Garden size and amenity space
 Difference between refused scheme P16/S4061/FUL and current proposal
 CIL
 Other issues

7.2 The principle of residential development.
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications 
for planning permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

7.3 Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. In the case of 
this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012, the saved 
policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP).

7.4 The spatial strategy in the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy Policy CSS1 establishes a 
settlement hierarchy where the amount and location of new housing is related to the 
availability of facilities and services in order to achieve a sustainable pattern of 
development. Policy CSS1 also notes that outside the towns and villages, and other 
major development sites, any change will need to relate to very specific needs such as 

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

those of the agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment. Within this 
settlement hierarchy, Wheatley is a “larger village” with an adequate range of services 
and facilities. CSS1 aims to support and enhance the larger villages as local service 
centres.

7.5 Policy CSR1 of SOCS set out the appropriate levels of housing within the villages. It 
permits infill and redevelopment within villages and allocations in the larger villages. It 
defines infill development as “the filling of a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage 
or on other sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by buildings.” 
This site is bounded by residential development on all sides and is considered to fall 
within the definition of infill development. The proposal is compliant with policy CSR1 
and is acceptable in principle. Consequently, the proposal can be assessed against the 
impact-based criteria of the SOLP 2011 policy H4.
 

7.6 Policy H4 criteria
Policy H4 of the SOLP allows for housing on sites within the built-up areas of the 
villages providing the following criteria are met:

1. An important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is 
not lost, nor an important public view spoilt. The site is rear garden area to 
no 7 Hillary Way. It is of no ecological or environmental importance.

2. The design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are 
in keeping with its surroundings. The site lies to the rear of no 7 Hillary Way 
which is a dormer bungalow. There is a wide range of house types and styles 
within the vicinity of the site. The properties opposite the site in Roman Road 
are predominantly semi- detached, two storey dwellings. A single storey 
dwelling would not appear out of keeping with the surrounding development. A 
single storey building occupies part of the site currently.

3. The character of the area is not adversely affected. Number 1-11 Hillary 
Way are sited on an “island” with roads to the north, south, east and west. All 
these properties have gardens backing onto Roman Way. When the 2016 
application was considered this area had an uninterrupted stretch of mature 
planting without any vehicle accesses onto Roman Way. This is no longer the 
case as an access has been created by the Lawful Development Certificate 
which has involved the removal of some of the hedge.  A detached garage 
building has been erected on the site. As such the replacement of this garage 
building with a single storey dwelling will not materially alter the established 
character of the area in your officers’ opinion. 

4. There is no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections. As 
the proposed dwelling is single storey only, it would not be oppressive or 
overbearing on the occupiers of the neighbouring properties at numbers 9 and 5 
Hillary Way. There is no objection to the proposal on highway grounds subject 
to standard conditions relating to access and visibility.
If the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create 
problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of 
the settlement. Whilst the proposed new dwelling would be to the rear of 7 
Hillary Way it does not constitute backland development because the proposed 
dwelling fronts onto and has its own access onto Crown Road.

7.7 Garden size and amenity space
Policy D3 of the SOLP requires that a private outdoor garden and outdoor amenity 
space should be provided for all new dwellings. The amount of land to be used for the 
garden or amenity space will be determined by the size of the dwelling proposed. This 
policy and the SODG seek to ensure that reasonable standards of private amenity 
space are provided in new developments. No 7 Hillary Way is a 3-bed dwelling and the 

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

proposed new dwelling is a 2-bed dwelling. The council’s recommended garden sizes 
for a 3- bed (or above) dwelling is 100sqm and 50sqm for a 2-bed dwelling. In this case, 
the host dwelling at no 7 Hillary Way would retain a rear garden of some 107 sqm and 
the new dwelling would have a rear garden of some 150sqm. It is therefore my opinion 
that this development would not constitute overdevelopment and that sufficient amenity 
space is to be provided for both dwellings. 

7.8 Difference between the refused scheme P16/S4061/FUL and the current proposal
When the 2016 planning application was submitted, the site was very enclosed and 
there was no vehicular access onto Roman Road and a mature hedge ran along the 
rear boundary abutting Roman Road. This is the context in which that application was 
assessed. The lack of a vehicular access and the “green” edge to this part of the road 
were the key reasons why planning permission was refused and dismissed on appeal.

7.9 Since planning application P16/S4061/FUL was determined, the applicants submitted a 
Lawful Development Certificate for the creation of an access and the erection of an 
outbuilding on the site. These works did not require planning permission and so were 
outside the control of the Local Planning Authority. The access and the outbuilding 
have been constructed.

7.10 The current application has to be considered within the context of the existing site 
circumstances. The reason for refusal for P16/S4061/FUL which is set out in paragraph 
2.1 of this report is no longer appropriate for this proposal as the area now has frontage 
development served by the access and outbuilding built under permitted development. 
The footprint and scale of the proposed dwelling is not materially different to the 
outbuilding and as such a reason for refusal based on the impact of the development 
on the character of the area is not considered appropriate.

7.11 Other issues.
Other neighbour concerns include;

 the removal of the hedge being contrary to the deeds. The removal of the hedge 
does not require planning permission. Any issues relating to the deeds are a 
civil matter and are not a material planning consideration. 

 Drainage has also been raised as a concern. With new dwellings, drainage will 
be addressed at the building regulations stage of the development. The building 
of a single dwelling is unlikely to have a major impact on the existing 
infrastructure. 

 Concern has been raised that the plans are incorrect and that the cars would 
not physically fit on the site. The highway authority has not raised any issues in 
relation to parking or access and a condition is recommended which will ensure 
that the parking spaces are built to a standard size. 

 Finally, some residents have alleged that there has been a misuse of the 
planning system given that a planning application for a new dwelling has been 
refused and dismissed on appeal. Whilst your officers understand this concern, 
the works the applicant has undertaken such as the removal of the hedge, the 
creation of an access and the erection of an outbuilding all do not require 
planning permission. This proposal must be considered within the context of the 
existing site circumstances and Development Plan policies.

7.12 Community Infrastructure Levy
The application is CIL liable and the necessary forms required at this stage of the 
development have been submitted.

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

8.0 CONCLUSION
8.1 The principle of a new dwelling on this site is acceptable as it lies within the built-up 

limits of Wheatley. The character of the area has materially changed since the refusal 
of planning application P16/S4061/FUL. As there is an existing vehicular access 
serving this site and a single storey outbuilding on the site, the proposed single storey 
dwelling would not adversely affect the established character of the area. The proposal 
would not be unneighbourly by way of overlooking or by being oppressive and accords 
with the Development Plan policies.

9.0 RECOMMENDATION
9.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1: Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2: Approved plans 
3: Existing vehicular access
4: Vision splay protection.
5: Materials 

Author:         Kim Gould
Contact No:  01235 422500
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 37

Agenda Item 9P19/S1009/FUL



Appendix 2

P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

1

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0648/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 28.2.2019
PARISH NUFFIELD
WARD MEMBERS Jo Robb

Lorraine Hillier
APPLICANT Passmore brothers
SITE 1 Mays Cottages between Nuffield and Ewelme, 

OX10 6QF
PROPOSAL Erection of 2 bed affordable cottage
OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is recommended for refusal. It is referred to the District Council 

Planning Committee at the request of the previous ward member.

1.2 The application site (attached as Appendix A) is comprised of an area of land 
measuring approximately 0.11ha at the edge of a small group of cottages accessed 
off the A4130/ Old Henley Road. The site is approximately 3.3km from the limits of 
Ewelme, 3.6km from Nuffield and 5.2km from Nettlebed. The land falls within the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and there is a very strong rural 
character to the surrounding landscape. 

1.3 There is scant planning history for this area of housing. However, in 2002, planning 
permission was granted by the area committee for the demolition of one cottage and 
its replacement with two on an area to the south of the site. This was contrary to the 
planning manager’s recommendation of refusal. The committee report for that 
application explained that the scheme conflicted with Policy H6 of the Local Plan in 
force at that time and that the applicant’s intention to use the income from the rental of 
the cottages to support his farming business did not outweigh the harm to the local 
landscape or the conflict with the spatial strategy of the Development Plan. 

1.4 In 2017, planning permission was sought for a further 2-bed cottage within the site, 
again to provide income to support the farm. Officers recommended the application for 
refusal, on the basis that the scheme did not meet the requirement to demonstrate the 
type of essential agricultural need described under Paragraph 55 of that version of the 
NPPF. The location was considered not to be sustainable for housing development as 
described within the prevailing local and national planning policy. The scheme was 
withdrawn by the applicant prior to a decision being progressed.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, full planning permission is again sought for 

the erection of a 2-bed cottage within the site. The supporting documentation describes 
this as a rural exception proposal on the basis that the dwelling would be affordable 
and for occupation by persons with a local connection. 

2.2 The applicants have subsequently provided a solicitor’s letter confirming their client’s 
intention to enter into unilateral undertaking restricting occupancy to a local tenant at 
80% of the current market value.

Page 41

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0648/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

2

2.3 A copy of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix B.  Other 
documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.  

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Nuffield Parish Council – Fully Supports

 The applicant is a member of Nuffield Parish Council.
 The scheme meets parish housing needs by providing affordable housing to 

those working in or having close links to the parish
 The impact on the countryside is minimal since the development is within the 

area already occupied by houses and that any impact is outweighed by the 
benefits of having an additional affordable home in the parish.

Housing Development – Objection
 Any affordable housing should be secured by way of a Section.106 Agreement 

and delivered through a Registered Provider, which will be required to enter into 
a nomination agreement with the council.

 As the site is remote from shops and services, it may not be sustainable. A 
detailed housing needs survey would need to be undertaken to support an 
application under rural exception policy.

Nation Farmers Union
 The proposal would provide a property at an affordable rental rate and the rental 

income would provide important support for the existing farm.
 The applicant is a well-respected member of the farming community and has 

won a number of high profile awards.

Neighbour Approve (3)
 The existing tenants at other of the immediate properties have benefitted from 

lower rate of rent. The Passmore family are very considerate landlords and it 
would be wonderful if another family were to have a similar opportunity on what 
is currently a wasted area of ground.

 The local impact will be very minimal and the house will be within keeping of the 
existing dwellings. Finding affordable housing in the area for agricultural 
members of staff has always been difficult and this application is a way to solve 
this problem.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P17/S0740/FUL - Withdrawn (02/05/2017)

Erection of 2 bed cottage and cartshed garage

P02/S0702 - Approved (25/03/2003)
Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of two dwellings and detached garage.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies;

CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSH3 – Affordable Housing
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

Page 42

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S0740/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/S0702


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

3

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) Policies;
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D10  -  Waste Management
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
H10 - Affordable housing within or adjoining villages
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) – Section 7

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues for consideration in this application are as follows:-

1. The principle of the proposed development
2. The impact of the scale and design upon the character of the site and the wider 

rural landscape
3. The impact upon neighbouring amenity
4. The impact upon highway safety
5. Any other material planning considerations

The principle of the proposed development

6.2 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The development 
plan currently comprises the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the saved 
policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP). In terms of relevant planning 
policies relating to the principle of housing, the spatial strategy in Policy CSS1 of the 
SOCS establishes a settlement hierarchy. This is expanded within Policy CSR1 and 
SOLP Policy H4 which allow for allocations, infill housing and redevelopment schemes 
within the built-up limits of some villages in the district. These are currently set out 
under Appendix 4 to the SOCS. Outside these locations, new housing development is 
not supported.

6.3 The site is located a significant distance from the built-up limits of any recognised 
settlement within the district. There would thus be an expansion of built form into the 
countryside for planning policy purposes and this would only be supported by the 
Development Plan or the NPPF if a specific need or exceptions case has been 
demonstrated. Without this exceptional justification, there would be conflict with SOCS 
Policies CSS1 and CSR1 and planning permission should be refused. 

Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

4

6.4 The level of accessibility of any out-of-settlement location does not make the principle 
of housing any more acceptable in development plan policy terms. However, officers 
consider it important to note that the proposal before the committee is within a very 
unsustainable location in terms of the level of convenient access to the normal range of 
key services and facilities expected within housing locations. These are set out in the 
Settlement Assessment Background Papers (October 2017; December 2018) and are 
used in key indicators by the council in making proper objective decisions for housing 
allocation under the plan-led approach to development required by the NPPF.   

6.5 Whilst there is currently a bus service route along the A4130, there are no other 
facilities or services within close proximity to the site. All journeys to access these 
would need to be made by vehicular modes of transport, most likely by car on a 
frequent basis. Accordingly, any competing material planning considerations justifying a 
departure from the council’s spatial strategy would need to be very significant and 
demonstrable. 

Rural exceptions case

6.6 Paragraph 77 of the NPPF states that in rural areas, planning policies and decisions 
should support opportunities to bring forward ‘genuine rural exception sites’ that will 
provide affordable housing to meet ‘identified local needs’. The SOCS defines ‘rural 
exceptions sites’ as ‘small sites for affordable housing within or adjacent to villages 
where housing would not normally be permitted’. Saved Policy H10 of the SOLP states 
that special small-scale affordable housing schemes may be permitted ‘within or 
adjoining villages’ provided that, amongst other things, ‘it can be demonstrated that all 
of the houses meet a particular local need that cannot be accommodated in any other 
way’.

6.7 All the above policies and associated text emphasise that rural exceptions schemes 
must respond to a specific, evidence-based local housing need. They also advocate a 
sequential approach, with preference given to sites ‘where there are adequate local 
services and facilities’. They omit any support for sites well-outside of settlements. 
Policy H10 further requires that this type of application is accompanied by a Housing 
Needs Survey demonstrating the extent of the housing need arising from people with a 
local connection. This must be assessed by the council prior to a planning application 
being submitted. Housing need is based on factors such as overcrowding, lack of or 
sharing of facilities, income, ill-health and disability. It is accepted that the requirements 
supporting a rural exceptions scheme are strict, but planning permission is ultimately 
sought in a location where both local and national policies direct that new housing will 
only be permissible if an exceptional set of circumstances exist. Officers suggest that 
an elected parish council or a neighbourhood planning body might be best placed and 
better resourced to amass the required evidential need and present it in a transparent 
manner.

6.8 Officers do note that the applicant is a parish councillor and a well-respected farmer, 
but there is no objective evidence provided in support of this application to demonstrate 
that there is an exceptional need for affordable housing within any of the closest 
settlements. Even then, the council would need to see evidence that other sites within 
or closer to those villages have been considered for affordable housing and why they 
are deemed unsuitable. Although there is anecdotal support for the scheme from the 
Nuffield Parish Council and two neighbours, with further examples alluded to in the 
application, this is not backed up by any evidence which can be properly assessed.

Page 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

5

6.9 It is worthy of note that within its latest Parish Plan 2012, Nuffield Parish Council 
concluded that it would ‘not be championing additional housing within the Parish based 
on its own actual survey findings (p9) attached as Appendix C. If these circumstances 
within Nuffield have changed, Nuffield Parish Council has not provided any up-to-date 
survey data illustrating this and officers have not been made aware of a neighbourhood 
plan under preparation. 

6.10

6.11

Officers can also confirm that the council’s Housing Team have not been provided with 
any supporting housing needs information prior to the submission of this application. As 
stated within their consultation response, the unit would not be delivered by a 
Registered Provider (RP) and the application does not comply with the policy 
requirements, irrespective of the applicant’s willingness to engage in a unilateral 
undertaking. Officers remain concerned that without evidence of local need, the specific 
obligations within the draft agreement may be unrealistic in perpetuity. This would call 
into question the enforceability of some of the proposed conditions and an increased 
likelihood that, in the event of planning permission being granted, the council would 
receive an application to modify the obligation in the longer term.

In the light of the above assessment, the proposal would not constitute sustainable 
development of the sort envisaged by the NPPF and, in the absence of adequate 
overriding justification, the proposal is contrary to the relevant local planning policies 
and national planning guidance.

Impact upon the character of the area

6.12 Paragraph 172 of the NPPF confirms that "great weight" should be given to conserving 
and enhancing the landscape and scenic beauty of the Chilterns AONB “which have 
the highest status of protection”. This reinforces the statutory duty placed on the 
Council under Section 85 of the Countryside Rights of Way Act 2000. The SOCS Policy 
CSEN1 and the SOLP Policies G2, G4 and D1 seek to secure development which 
would respect settlement patterns and the existing landscape around them; protect 
landscape features and the aesthetic qualities of the district generally; safeguard the 
countryside from inappropriate development; and make a positive contribution to local 
distinctiveness.

6.13 Officers accept that the site is located within the corner of a small enclave of residential 
development and, although it lies inside the Chilterns AONB designation, the land 
within the site is not of any particularly exceptional landscape quality. However, it is not 
always the case that a site has to be widely visible to result in landscape harm. Not 
being widely seen would otherwise be taken as a licence to develop the countryside 
across the board in discreet locations. In this instance, whilst the application site is 
covered with patches of hardstanding and separated from the wider open agricultural 
land by various boundary treatments, it is not within the apparent residential curtilage of 
any other properties and it is largely devoid of operational development. It would not 
constitute ‘previously developed’/ brownfield land under the NPPF’s glossary and Policy 
G4 of the SOLP supports the protection of the countryside for its ‘own sake’ rather than 
requiring it to have a specific beneficial use. 

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

6

6.14 The majority of the built structures within the wider parcel of land comprise a ribbon of 
development lining the A4130 to the south, and the site marks an effective transition 
between the wider extensive open agricultural fields and the sporadic housing along 
Old London Road to the north-west. Officers maintain that the scheme would, as 
proposed, partly consolidate a loose-knit group of dwellings and in doing so, fail to 
respect the wider settlement pattern. The presence of a new dwelling in public views 
within this location would have an urbanising influence upon an area of the countryside 
which the council seeks to protect through the Development Plan process. By 
extension, this would impact upon the landscape setting of the Chilterns AONB. 

6.15

6.16

If this were an area objectively identified as an appropriate location for housing 
expansion, officers do accept that the design is broadly representative of the local 
vernacular and the modest form, proportions and detailing accord with the advice within 
the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide. It would also provide adequate private amenity 
spaces in accordance with the adopted minimum standards set out under Section 7 of 
the SODG. However, the accordance of the proposal with this guidance is a neutral 
factor, which would not outweigh the localised, but nonetheless significant landscape 
harm that would arise from the proposed expansion of built form within the countryside, 
in conflict with the relevant local planning policies and national planning guidance.

Neighbouring amenity

It is noted that no neighbour objections were received, and the proposal would meet the 
minimum separating distances recommended under Section 7 of the SODG. Officers 
have no issues in relation to losses of daylight, sunlight or privacy.

6.17

Highway matters

Notwithstanding the general lack of sustainability of the location and the environmental 
harm arising from the likely frequent use of private vehicles to access facilities, officers 
are satisfied that there are no specific highway safety issues. The existing access point 
benefits from reasonable visibility splays, which could be reinforced by condition and 
the level of parking accords with the standards set out under Appendix 5 to the SOLP.

6.18

7.0

Other material planning considerations

Had the application been otherwise acceptable, it would have been CIL liable at a rate 
of £150 per square metre (index linked), 15% of which would go to Nuffield Parish 
Council in the absence of an adopted neighbourhood plan.

CONCLUSION
7.1 The application site is situated within an isolated rural location where there is poor 

access to necessary facilities and services, and where there are strict controls over the 
provision of new housing. Furthermore, this is not a rural exceptions scheme 
demonstrating that the provision of a new dwelling in this unsustainable location would 
fulfil an objectively-assessed, demonstrable local housing need.

In addition to the clear and overriding conflict with the spatial strategy of the 
Development Plan, the proposal would also further erode the undeveloped, rural 
character of this part of the countryside, to the detriment of the wider Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. Moreover, the environmental harm from additional private 
car use would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the very modest social benefits 
of delivering a single dwelling and the relatively small economic gains arising during 
construction.

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

7

The proposal would not constitute sustainable development of the sort envisaged by 
the National Planning Policy Framework and, in the absence of adequate overriding 
justification, the proposal is contrary to policies CSS1, CS1, CSR1 and CSEN1 of the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, policies G2 and G4 of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2011.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
Refuse Planning Permission

 
Author:          Simon Kitson
Contact No:   01235 422600
Email:             planninh@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix AP
age 49

A
genda Item

 10
P

19/S
0648/FU

L



P
age 50



Client Scale

Drawn

Date

Project

Drawing

Passmore Brothers

Site Location Plan

Residential Development

1:1000

HFC

19 SCE SL01

Status

Planning

Drawing No. Revision

No Date Revision notes

Shepherds Cottages
Ewelme
OX10 6QF 15.02.19

C This drawing is the property of David Parker Architects Ltd. Copyright is reserved by them and is issued on the condition that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without the prior consent in writing by David Parker Architects Ltd.Only to be scaled from for planning and land registry purposes.  All figured dimensions are millimetres unless otherwise stated.  Contractors must verify all dimensions before starting work and any discrepancies are to be reported to David Parker Architects Ltd.

1

2
3

Lay-by

The Chiltern View

1

1

126.2m

Lavender Terrace

Cottages

124.3m

LB

May's Farm

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2017. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

4
6
5
6
00

188900

Old London Road

Oakley Wood

Wallingford

Nettlebed
A4130

Land within May's Farm

Arable field

Site Area: 0.09ha

0 25 35 45 55 M

Self Contained Residential Units

Appendix B

P
age 51



Client

Project

Drawing 

Dwg NoScale

Drawn 

Date Status 

No Date Revision Notes

Rev

MR D PASSMORE

NEW DWELLING:

As Stated

GCW

15.02.19

 19 SCE SP02

PLANNING

REAR OF 1 / 2 MAYS COTTAGES
EWELME

 OX10 6QF
 

PROPOSED SITE PLAN
 

This drawing is the property of David Parker Architects Ltd. Copyright is reserved by them and is issued on the condition that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without the prior consent in writing by David Parker Architects Ltd.C Only to be scaled from for planning and land registry purposes.  All figured dimensions are millimetres unless otherwise stated.  Contractors must verify all dimensions before starting work and any discrepancies are to be reported to David Parker Architects Ltd.

1

2

3

The Chiltern View

1

1

126.2m

Lavender Terrace

Cottages

LB

May's Farm

188900

OLD LONDON ROAD

49.77

49.72

49.73

49.67

49.61

49.52

49.44

49.32

49.19

49.32

49.38
49.37

49.41
49.45

49.50

49.59

49.62

49.67

49.65

49.65

49.65

49.63

49.63

49.58

49.48

49.11

48.99

48.98

48.98

48.85

48.52

48.32

48.27

48.53

48.74

48.78

48.94

48.84

48.77

48.59

48.61

48.25

48.15

48.17

47.96

48.20

47.71

47.73

47.52

47.61

47.33

49.12

49.04

49.06

49.05

49.20

49.60

49.64
Stay

49.67

49.57

49.71

49.68

49.64

49.51

Meter

48.77

49.21

49.17

49.18

49.34

49.45 49.47

49.61

49.58

49.36

49.49

49.46

49.19Post

49.18

49.11

49.09

49.06

49.05

48.99

49.07

49.20

49.30

49.44

49.47

EP

TP

TP

TP

Post

49.11

48.91

48.60

48.34

48.07

47.80

47.47

47.21

47.03

46.91

46.80

46.89

46.98

47.09

47.12

47.20

47.21

47.28 47.34 47.41

47.60

47.78

47.91

48.03

48.27

48.60

48.90

49.28

49.41

49.48

49.58

48.34

47.84

47.53 47.74

47.98

48.12

47.97

47.88

47.06

47.20

47.42

47.61

Post

46.90

47.12

46.96

46.72

46.88
46.93

47.04

47.12

47.02

46.84
48.05

48.09
47.62

46.35

46.52

46.30

46.29

46.29

46.29

46.29

46.40

46.65

46.31

46.28

46.36

46.3346.30

46.29

46.28

46.19

46.12

45.91

46.09

46.26

46.33
46.48

46.60

46.57

46.78

46.75

46.77

46.65
46.60

46.51

46.48

46.47
46.47

46.40

46.22

46.30

46.44

46.54

46.29

46.30

46.29

46.29

46.28

EP

EP

Post

Post

Post and Rail Fence

Hedge 1.7mH

Picket Fence 1.3mH

Overhead Cable

O
ve

rh
ea

d 
Ca

bl
e

He
dg

e 
1.

9m
H

Cl
os

e 
Bo

ar
d 

Fe
nc

e

W
al

l

Cl
os

e 
Bo

ar
d 

Fe
nc

e

Close Board Fence

Hedge

Post and Rail Fence

Post and Wire Fence

Overhead Cable

Overhead Cable

O
ve

rh
ea

d 
Ca

bl
e

O
ve

rh
ea

d 
Ca

bl
e

O
ve

rh
ea

d 
Ca

bl
e

Concrete

Po
st

 a
nd

 R
ai

l F
en

ce

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Eaves Lvl.=48.65m
Ridge Ht.=51.56m

Eaves Lvl.=50.24m
Ridge Ht.=52.53m

DPC Lvl.=45.54m

Elders

Elders

Fir
12mH

Yews

Yews

Cypress
Sycamore

Cypress

Cypress
11mH

Cypress

1&2 Farm Cottages

4
5
0
m
E

5
0
0
m
E

1.
8m

H

Concrete

B

B

B

A

A

A

Turning AreaB

B

Sightline available
2.4x90m

2.4
m

0 5 10 15 M

1:250 scale

Parking Area for
1& 2 Farm
Cottages

A- Proposed trees- Hornbeam. (Carpinus betulus)
B -Proposed trees- Wild Cherrys (Prunus avium) 

Existing trees

Removed trees

Proposed hedging

Existing hedging

Existing informal incidental hedging to 
be specifically planted/ retained and 
introduce replanted staggered hedge of 
containerised species
15% holly
25% buckthorn
60% hawthorn
At 450 staggered centres

Transplanted beech containerised 
specimens from site to form new 
beech hedge

2.4 x 
70m 
sightli
ne

2.4 x 120m 
sightline Indicitive landscaping

Converted residential 
unit

Sightline to NW 
available 2.4x120m

Bin collection point

Recycling/ bin storage

Provisional position for septic tank with 
land drain outfall to hold at lower level

1.2 pallisade fence
 with 600 trellis

New hedge

11' Curved Harr 5 Bar Gate in IROKO 
Or similar approved hardwood to 
Clients requirements.

200 x 200mm Square posts with 45 
deg Pyramid capping detail in 
IROKO or similar Hardwood to 
match Gates. Posts set in concrete 
(postcrete) foundation to min 
600mm depth to approval of building 
inspector on site

5 Bar Gate Detail 1:50

13
50

m
m

15
m

m 25
m

m15
m

m

200mm200mm 3500mm

guide dimensions to be adjusted on site to suit

P
age 52



Client

Project

Drawing 

Dwg NoScale

Drawn 

Date Status 

Rev

MR D PASSMORE

NEW DWELLING:

1:100 @ A2

GW

12/02/19

 19 SCE PE02

PLANNING

REAR OF 1 / 2 MAYS COTTAGES
EWELME
OX10 6QF

 

PROPOSED
PLANS & ELEVATIONS

No Date Revision Notes

This drawing is the property of David Parker Architects Ltd. Copyright is reserved by them and is issued on the condition that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without the prior consent in writing by David Parker Architects Ltd.COnly to be scaled from for planning and land registry purposes.  All figured dimensions are millimetres unless otherwise stated.  Contractors must verify all dimensions before starting work and any discrepancies are to be reported to David Parker Architects Ltd.

Notes

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
Scale: 1:100

Kitchen

Living Room

W/C

Hall

Vaulted ceiling

c/b

A
A

Stable 
door

Dining

Family

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
Scale: 1:100

Fam
Bath

Bedroom 2

En-suite

0 5 10 M

SCALE: 1:100

Bedroom 1

A
A

REAR ELEVATION
Scale: 1:100

LHS ELEVATION
Scale: 1:100

RH SIDE ELEVATION
Scale: 1:100

SECTION AA
Scale: 1:100

FRONT ELEVATION
Scale: 1:100

P
age 53



500.000

500.000

50.00

STN

104

488.521

485.407

48.61

STN

105

473.223

468.818

47.09

STN

106

464.274

456.625

46.20

STN

102

482.759

508.724

49.67

STN

49.77

49.72

49.73

49.67

49.50

49.59

49.62

49.67

49.65

49.65

49.65

49.63

49.63

49.58

49.48

49.11

48.99

48.98

48.98

48.85

48.52

48.32

48.27

48.53

48.74

48.78

48.94

48.84

48.77

48.59

48.61

48.25

48.15

48.17

47.96

48.20

47.71

47.73

47.52

47.61

47.33

49.12

49.04

49.06

49.05

49.20

49.60

49.64

S

t
a
y

49.67

49.57

49.71

49.68

49.64

49.51

Meter

48.77

49.21

49.17

49.18

49.34

49.45

49.47

49.61

49.36

49.49

Post

EP

TP

Post

49.11

48.91

48.60

48.34

48.07

47.80

47.47

47.21

47.03

46.91

46.80

46.89

46.98

47.09

47.12

47.20

47.21

47.28

47.34

47.41

47.60

47.78

47.91

48.03

48.27

48.60

48.90

49.28

49.41

49.48

49.58

48.34

47.84

47.53

47.74

47.98

48.12

47.97

47.88

47.06

47.20

47.42

47.61

Post

46.90

47.12

46.96

46.72

46.88

46.93

47.04

47.12

47.02

46.84

48.05

48.09

47.62

46.35

46.52

46.30

46.29

46.29

46.29

46.29

46.40

46.65

46.31

46.28

46.36

46.3346.30

46.29

46.28

46.19

46.12

45.91

46.09

46.26

46.33

46.48

46.60

46.57

46.78

46.75

46.77

46.65

46.60

46.51

46.48

46.47

46.47

46.40

46.22

46.30

46.44

46.54

46.29

46.30

46.29

46.29

46.28

EP

Post

Post

P

o

s

t

 

a

n

d

 

R

a

i

l

 

F

e

n

c

e

H

e

d

g

e

 

1

.

7

m

H

O

v

e

r

h

e

a

d

 

C

a

b

l

e

O

v

e

r

h

e

a

d

 

C

a

b

l

e

H

e

d

g

e

 

1

.

9

m

H

C

l

o

s

e

 

B

o

a

r

d

 

F

e

n

c

e

W

a

l

l

C

l

o

s

e

 

B

o

a

r

d

 

F

e

n

c

e

C

l

o

s

e

 

B

o

a

r

d

 

F

e

n

c

e

H

e

d

g

e

P

o

s

t

 

a

n

d

 

R

a

i

l

 

F

e

n

c

e

P

o

s

t

 

a

n

d

 

W

i

r

e

 

F

e

n

c

e

O

v
e
r
h
e
a
d
 C

a
b
le

O

v

e

r
h

e

a

d

 
C

a

b

l
e

O

v

e

r

h

e

a

d

 

C

a

b

l

e

O

v

e

r

h

e

a

d

 

C

a

b

l

e

O

v

e

r

h

e

a

d

 

C

a

b

l

e

C

o

n

c

r

e

t

e

P

o

s

t

 

a

n

d

 

R

a

i

l

 

F

e

n

c

e

G

r

a

s

s

G

r

a

s

s

G

r

a

s

s

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Gravel

Eaves Lvl.=48.65m

Ridge Ht.=51.56m

1

.

8

m

H

C

o

n

c

r

e

t

e

B

B

B

A

A

A

Turning Area

B

B

2

.

4

m

Parking Area for 1& 2

Farm Cottages

Existing informal incidental hedging to be

specifically planted/ retained and

introduce replanted staggered hedge of

containerised species

15% holly

25% buckthorn

60% hawthorn

At 450 staggered centres

Transplanted beech containerised

specimens from site to form new

beech hedge

2.4 x

120m

sightline

Converted residential

unit

Sightline to NW

available 2.4x120m

Bin collection point

Recycling/ bin storage

Provisional position for septic tank with

land drain outfall to hold at lower level

1.2 pallisade fence

 with 600 trellis

New hedge

5m 10m

T1

Spruce

B1

G2

Cypress

C2

G3

Sycamore

C2

G4

Cypress

C2

Recently

planted Yew

G5

Elder and other scrub

C2

Site: Mays Cottages, Ewelme, OX10 6QF

Drawing Title: Tree Protection Plan

1-200@A3

Feb 2017

Key:

Category A

Category B

Category C

Category U

Crown Spread

Tree Number

Species

Category

Category

Root

Protection

Area

13

Birch

B2

Glen Harding

GHA trees

6 St Georges Close

High Wycombe

Bucks

HP13 7JT

t: 07884 056 025

e: glen@ghatrees.co.uk

www.ghatrees.co.uk

N

W E

S

Tree Protection Fencing Tree Proposed for Removal

Page 54



Appendix C

Page 55



 

 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S1140/HH
APPLICATION TYPE HOUSEHOLDER
REGISTERED 15.4.2019
PARISH SWYNCOMBE
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Mr Philip Clayden
SITE 8 Park Corner Nettlebed Henley-on-Thames, RG9 

6DT
PROPOSAL Loft conversion with dormer windows to the east and 

west elevation. (Amended plans received 2 July 
showing dormer to east elevation removed and 
replaced with roof light).

OFFICER Davina Sarac

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the Planning 

Manager as a South Oxfordshire Councillor lives at the application site.  

1.2 8 Park Corner is a semi-detached dwelling located within the built up limits of Park 
Corner (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A). The dwelling is 
chalet bungalow Swedish pre-fabricated post-war dwelling, modest in form and size, 
with first floor accommodation within the roof and two rear flat roof dormers. It has a 
tiled roof and painted timber vertical clad walls. The dwelling was previously extended 
to the side under planning permission reference P03/E0269.  It has adequate parking 
space at the front of the site and a reasonable size garden to the rear and side. 

1.3 The application site lies with the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB). This dwelling along with the neighbouring property at no.7 Park Corner are 
good surviving examples of a Swedish Pre-fabricated post-war house. These were 
constructed in this country to ease the housing shortage immediately after World War 
II. I believe this pair of Swedish prefabs are a non-designated heritage asset as they 
are a significant physical record of the social and economic history of this country 
immediately after World War II. The Park Corner Swedish houses were built on land 
owned by Charles Wakefield Christie Miller who owned the Swyncombe Estate. He 
was responsible for first building the adjacent council housing in the 1920s and then 
presumably the pre-fab Swedish houses after WW2. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 Planning permission is sought for the erection of a dormer window to the front on the 

west elevation and the insertion of roof light on the east elevation of the 
garage/outbuilding which is located to the east side of the front driveway. The original 
garage/workshop building was granted permission under P03/S0184 and later granted 
retrospective permission under P04/E0016/RET.

2.2 The proposed dormer would have a pitched roof and would be constructed in traditional 
lead coloured cheeks and a matching tiled roof.  A copy of the application plans is 
attached as Appendix B and other documentation associated with the application can 
be viewed on the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1140/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1

3.2

Swyncombe Parish Council – No objection on condition that approval is strictly limited 
to the loft being used as a separate home office annex to the main house. 

Neighbour representations – One letter received stating no objection to the 
proposal subject to approval being conditional upon exclusive use of the
loft as a separate home office annex to the main house.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1

4.2

4.3

P04/E0016/RET - Approved (15/04/2004)
Demolition of existing garage and erection of garage/workshop with hardstanding to 
house proposed oil tank - amendment to planning permission P03/S0184. 
(Retrospective)  (As amended by letter and drawings received from the applicant dated 
16th February 2004).

P03/E0269 - Approved (04/09/2003)
Single storey extension and alterations to dwelling.

P03/S0184 - Approved (09/06/2003)
Garage/workshop to replace existing garage (as amended by letter from applicant 
dated 21 May 2003).

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3 – Historic Environment
CSQ3  -  Design

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies
D1  -  Principles of good design
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H13  -  Extension to dwelling

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered are: 

1. The impact on the character and appearance of the existing building, site and 
the surrounding area;

2. The impact on neighbouring properties;
3. Other matters.

Impact upon character and appearance
6.2 Policy H13 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) states that extensions of 

ancillary buildings within the curtilage of a dwelling will be permitted provided that the 
scale and design of the proposal is in keeping with the character of the dwelling and the 
site and with the appearance of the surrounding area.

6.3 The existing dwelling is one of a pair of semi-detached dwellings of consistent design 
and scale and together they represent a largely symmetrical pair of dwellings when 

Page 58

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P04/E0016/RET
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P03/E0269
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P03/S0184


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

viewed from the public highway despite no.8 having been extended to the side and 
having a large garage/workshop building on site. 
 

6.4 The proposal originally sought to insert two dormer windows, one on the west elevation 
and one on the east elevation of the garage/workshop building. The west facing dormer 
would face inwards towards the front driveway being located on the front of the 
garage/workshop building and positioned close to the main house. Therefore, it would 
be seen within the context of the dwelling and would not look out of place. However, it 
was considered that the east facing dormer window would be less appropriate as it 
would be highly visible from the lane given its position closer to the road. It would also 
give the impression that the garage/outbuilding is a residential dwelling rather than an 
ancillary outbuilding from the eastern approach.  Amended plans were received 
showing the east dormer window replaced with a single roof light to address this 
concern. 

6.5 Officers consider that the proposal would be of a scale and design that is in keeping 
with the character of the dwelling and the surrounding area in accordance with policies 
D1, G2 and H13 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and Policy CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy. 

Impact upon neighbouring properties
6.6 Policy H13 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) states that extensions of 

ancillary buildings within the curtilage of a dwelling will be permitted provided that the 
amenity of occupants of nearby properties is not materially harmed.

6.7 The proposed roof light would be located some 23 metres away from the neighbouring 
dwelling to the east, Wanwood and therefore considered not to give rise to any 
overlooking issues. Lavender Cottage lies to the north east of the site, and its position 
in relation to the garage/workshop building is such that it is considered the views from 
the roof light would be oblique in relation to Lavender Cottage and consequently, would 
not amount to a detrimental loss of privacy to the occupiers of this dwelling.  

6.8 The west facing dormer window would look directly towards the front driveway of no.7 
Park Corner. There is an existing hedge between the two properties. For the purposes 
of potential loss of light and outlook, the presence of any intervening boundary 
vegetation should be discounted as this is not a permanent feature. It is considered that 
the dormer would overlook the front driveway area which is not a private area and 
currently open to public views. Therefore, in view of the above it is considered that the 
proposal would not materially harm the amenity of occupants of nearby properties in 
accordance with Policy H13 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan.

Other matters
6.9 The most recent P04/E0016/RET approved permission for the garage/workshop 

building restricted the use of the building for separate living purposes. I consider this 
condition necessary as the subdivision of the property would be undesirable and would 
need to be assessed against the relevant housing policies within the Local 
Development Plan as a separate application. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
6.10 This application is not liable for CIL.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal would be of an appropriate design and would be of a scale suitable to the 

size of the building.  The development would not detract from the character and 
appearance of the site and would not be unneighbourly.  As such, and subject to the 

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 17 July 2019

recommended conditions, the application complies with the relevant Development Plan 
policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement of development within three years 
2 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
3 : Materials to be used for the cheeks, face and roof of the dormer window 
      hereby permitted shall match the materials used on the existing building and 
      those as specified within section 5 of the planning application form
4 :  Building to be used for purposes ancillary to 8 Park Corner

Author: Davina Sarac
Email:   Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:        01235 422600

 

Page 60

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 61

Agenda Item 11P19/S1140/HH



ADDRESS:

NOTES:

CLIENT:

DRAWING NUMBER:

DRAWN BY:

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

Mr P Clayden

SCALE:

DRAWING:

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

P19/S1140/HH

B481
Watlington

B481
Nettlebed

Park Corner

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

N

E8 (A4)

LOCATION PLAN

1:1250 @ A4

Appendix BP
age 62



ADDRESS:

DRAWING:

NOTES:

DRAWN BY:

CLIENT:

SCALE:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

Mr P Clayden

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

NORTH ELEVATION
(EXISTING)

1:50 @ A3

1:50 @ A3

E4

P
age 63



DRAWN BY:

NOTES:

SCALE:

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

DRAWING:

Mr P Clayden

CLIENT:

ADDRESS:

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

PP-07753895

PC.4.0/
02-07-2019

1:50 @ A3

P4

NORTH ELEVATION
(PROPOSED)

Showing proposed 
dormer window 
additions to Westerly 
roof elevation

P
age 64



ADDRESS:

DRAWING:

NOTES:

DRAWN BY:

CLIENT:

SCALE:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

Mr P Clayden

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

EAST ELEVATION
(EXISTING)

1:50 @ A3

E3

P
age 65



DRAWN BY:

NOTES:

SCALE:

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

DRAWING:

Mr P Clayden

CLIENT:

ADDRESS:

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

PP-07753895

PC.4.0/
02-07-2019

1:50 @ A3

P3

EAST ELEVATION
(PROPOSED)

Showing proposed roof 
window addition to 
Easterly roof elevation

P
age 66



ADDRESS:

DRAWING:

NOTES:

DRAWN BY:

CLIENT:

SCALE:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

Mr P Clayden

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

E2

Showing proposed 
dormer window 
additions to Westerly 
and Easterly roof 
elevations

1:50 @ A3

SOUTH ELEVATION
(EXISTING)

P
age 67



DRAWN BY:

NOTES:

SCALE:

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

DRAWING:

Mr P Clayden

CLIENT:

ADDRESS:

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

PP-07753895

PC.4.0/
02-07-2019

1:50 @ A3

P2

SOUTH ELEVATION
(PROPOSED)

Showing proposed 
dormer window addition 
to Westerly roof 
elevation

P
age 68



ADDRESS:

DRAWING:

NOTES:

DRAWN BY:

CLIENT:

SCALE:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

Mr P Clayden

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

Showing existing 
Westerly roof elevation

E1

1:50 @ A3

WEST ELEVATION
(EXISTING)

P
age 69



DRAWN BY:

NOTES:

SCALE:

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

DRAWING:

Mr P Clayden

CLIENT:

ADDRESS:

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

PP-07753895

PC.4.0/
02-07-2019

WEST ELEVATION

Showing proposed 
dormer window addition 
to Westerly roof 
elevation

P1

1:50 @ A3

P
age 70



ADDRESS:

DRAWING:

NOTES:

DRAWN BY:

CLIENT:

SCALE:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

Mr P Clayden

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
(EXISTING)

1:50 @ A3

E6

P
age 71



Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWN BY:

NOTES:

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

DRAWING:

SCALE:

CLIENT:

ADDRESS:

Mr P Clayden

DRAWING NUMBER:

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

Showing proposed 
unchanged ground floor 
plan

P6

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
(PROPOSED)

1:50 @ A3

P
age 72



ADDRESS:

DRAWING:

NOTES:

DRAWN BY:

CLIENT:

SCALE:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWING NUMBER:

Mr P Clayden

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
(EXISTING)

1:50 @ A3

E7

P
age 73



PC.4.0/
02-07-2019

NOTES:

ADDRESS:

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

CLIENT:

Mr P Clayden

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895

DRAWING:

DRAWING NUMBER:

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
(PROPOSED)

P7

1:50 @ A3

Showing proposed 
dormer window addition 
to Westerly roof 
elevation and position of 
roof window to Easterly 
roof elevation

P
age 74



Philip Clayden
07801 670438
phil@claydendesign.co.uk

DRAWN BY:

NOTES:

8 Park Corner
RG9 6DT

PC.3.0/
03-04-2019

DRAWING:

SCALE:

CLIENT:

ADDRESS:

Mr P Clayden

DRAWING NUMBER:

APPLICATION REFERENCE NUMBER:

PP-07753895
19
80

19
80

26
31

24
62

24
62

PIR Insulation 140mm

Wool Insulation 150mm

P8

Section through 
staircase and landing 
into proposed dormer 
window

1:50 @ A3

FINISHED FLOOR LEVELS
(EXISTING & PROPOSED)

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 P19/S0288/FUL - Amberley, 26 Lambridge Wood Road, Henley-On-Thames, RG9 3BS
	Appendices A - E
	A GIS
	B Composite_Plan_Proposed_drwgno_1514-03c
	C Composite Proposed drwgno 1 Rev D
	D Plot 1 Elevations & Floor Plans drwgno 2 rev A
	D1 Plot 2 Elevations & Floor Plans drwgno 3 rev A
	D3 Site plan etc Rev D (1)
	E 4c1055cdd832468db699f2409df5f56c


	8 P19/S1246/FUL - Unit 4, The Arcade, High Street, Goring, RG8 9AY
	Appendices 1-2
	1 GIS
	2 Elevations & Floor plan drwgno P1-D1306-02


	9 P19/S1009/FUL - 7 Hillary Way, Wheatley, OX33 1UY
	Appendices 1-2
	1 7 Hillary Way
	2 Location and Block Plan Proposed drwgno  16-008-P-301
	2a Plans and Elevations Existing drwgno 16-008-S-001
	2b Floor Plans and Elevations Proposed drwgno 16-008-P-302


	10 P19/S0648/FUL - 1 Mays Cottages, between Nuffield and Ewelme, OX10 6QF
	Appendices A-C
	A 1
	A 2 2
	B1 Location Plan drwgno 19 SCE SL01
	A3 -19 SCE SL01
	Viewport-1


	B2 Site Plan Proposed drwgno 19 SCE SP02
	19 SCE SP02 
	1/A2
	Viewport-2


	B3 Composite Plan Proposed drwgno 19 SCE PE02
	19 SCE PE02 
	2/A2 (LANDSCAPE)
	4/A2 (LANDSCAPE)
	3/A2 (LANDSCAPE)
	5/A2 (LANDSCAPE)
	6/A2 (LANDSCAPE)
	section
	FRONT ELEVATION


	B4 Tree Protection Plan drwgno TPP001
	C Nuffield2012


	11 P19/S1140/HH - 8 Park Corner, Nettlebed, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 6DT
	Appendices A-B
	A GIS
	B Location Plan drwgno PC 30 E8
	B1 Elevation Plan North Existing drwgno EE004
	B2 Elevation North Proposed drwgno PC 4.0 P4
	B3 Elevation Plan East Existing drwgno EE003
	B4 Elevation East Proposed drwgno PC 4.0 P3
	B5 Elevation Plan South Existing drwgno EE002
	B6 Elevation South Proposed drwgno PC 4.0 P2
	B7 Elevation Plan West Existing drwgno EE001
	B8 Elevation West Proposed drwgno PC 4.0 P1
	B9 Floor Plan Ground Existing drwgno EF001
	B10 Floor Plan Ground Proposed drwgno PF001
	B11 Floor Plan First Existing drwgno EF002
	B12 Floor Plan First Proposed drwgno PC 4.0 P7
	B13 Section Plan drwgno SP001





